
 

 

COUNTY COMMISSIONERS HEARING ROOM 
400 HIGH STREET 

CHESTERTOWN, MARYLAND  
 

AGENDA 
October 21, 2024 

5:00 p.m. 
 
APPLICATIONS FOR REVIEW 
 
24-28 Freedom Properties GOM, LLC – Special Exception – Redesignation as a Retreat 

10568 Cliff Road, Chestertown – Sixth Election District – Zoned CAR 
 
24-44 Shane Bender/SNK Holdings LLC – Amendment of Special Exception 
 516 Morgnec Road, Chestertown – Fourth Election District – Zoned Intense Village 
 
MINUTES 
 
September 23, 2024 
 
ADJOURN  
 

 
Members of the public are welcome to attend meetings in person or via conference call.  
 
Public participation and audio-only call-in number: 

1. Dial 1-872-239-8359 
2. Enter Conference ID: 868 698 895# 

 
PHONE PARTICIPATION – Members of the public are asked to mute their phones/devices, until the Chair opens 
the floor for comment. Please note that phone participation is dependent on service carriers and internet 
providers, this option may not be available for all meetings or be available during the entire meeting. In-person 
attendance is always recommended. 
 
ONLINE VIEWING – Please note that although many meetings are recorded, the availability of video online is 
dependent on internet availability and functionality. Some members of the public may be able to watch a live 
video feed and/or view the video after the meeting at the County’s YouTube channel at 
https://www.youtube.com/@kentcountygovernment2757. 
 
PROTOCOL – Meetings are conducted in open session unless otherwise indicated.  All or part of the meetings 
can be held in closed session under the authority of the MD Open Meetings Law by vote of the members.  Breaks 
are at the call of the Chair.  Meetings are subject to audio and video recordings. All applicants will be given the 
time necessary to assure full public participation and a fair and complete review of all projects. Agenda items are 
subject to change due to cancellations. 

https://www.youtube.com/@kentcountygovernment2757


DRAFT 
 
 

Adopted on [Insert date] 
 

 
MINUTES 

September 23, 2024 
5:00 PM 

 
Video recordings of the Kent County Board of Appeals meetings are available online for viewing on the 
County's YouTube channel at https://www.youtube.com/@kentcountygovernment2757. 
 
The Board of Appeals met on September 23, 2024, at 5:00 p.m. in the County Commissioners Hearing 
Room. Board members in attendance were Chair Dr. Albert Townshend, Member John Massey, and 
Member Joan Horsey. Alternate Member David Hill called ahead that he was unable to attend. 
 
Thomas N. Yeager, Esq., Board Attorney; William Mackey, AICP, DPHZ Director; Carl Gerber, AICP, Deputy 
Director; Mark Carper, LEED Green Associate, Associate Planner; and Beth Grieb, Office Manager, serving 
as Clerk were in attendance. 
 
Representatives for the Joyce variance included Miles Barnard, ASLA, RLA, South Fork Studio Landscape 
Architecture; John C. Hutchison, AIA, NCARB of John Hutchison Architecture; Mr. William F. Joyce, 
property owner; and Mrs. Linda Joyce, property owner.   
 
No members of the public were present or online.  
 
The meeting was called to order at 5:00 pm by Chair Dr. Townshend.  
 
APPLICATIONS FOR REVIEW 
 
24-42 William and Linda Joyce – Variance – Steep Slope and Expanded Buffer 
 29349 Glencoe Road, Kennedyville –Zoned Critical Area Residential (CAR) 
 
The clerk read the public notice for the hearing into the record. 
 
Mr. Miles Barnard and Mr. John Hutchison described the project that would provide an ADA-accessible 
carport and entrance to the home.  
 
Mr. Joyce thanked Mr. Barnard and Mr. Hutchison for their hard work to ensure that everything is done 
correctly, especially regarding the regulations related to the Maryland Critical Area.  
 
Mr. Carper presented the staff report for a variance to construct an ADA-compliant carport, retaining 
wall, driveway, and wooden walkway on a slope greater than 15% and in an expanded buffer within the 
critical area. Staff recommended approval noting that there was no objection from the Maryland Critical 
Area Commission, that the Planning Commission had recommended approval, and that there was indeed 
an unwarranted hardship related to the request. 
 

https://www.youtube.com/@kentcountygovernment2757


DRAFT 
 
 

September 23, 2024 -Board of Zoning Appeals  Page 2 of 2 
 

Ms. Horsey moved to approve the variance of William and Linda Joyce to construct an ADA-compliant 
carport, retaining wall, driveway, and wooden walkways on a slope greater than 15% in an expanded 
buffer of the Critical Area on their 2.81-acre property, located at 29349 Glencoe Road, Kennedyville, 
second election district, mitigation being 3:1 for a total of 5,009 square feet. Mr. Massey seconded. The 
motion passed unanimously. 
 
Mr. Massey moved to adopt the findings of fact in the Planning Commission letter of September 6, 2024, 
and the Critical Area Commission letter of September 13, 2024. Ms. Horsey seconded. The motion 
passed unanimously. 
 
MINUTES 
 
Ms. Horsey moved to approve the minutes for August 19, 2024. Mr. Massey seconded the motion. The 
motion passed unanimously. 
 
ADJOURN 
 
Mr. Massey moved to adjourn. Ms. Horsey seconded. The motion passed unanimously. The meeting 
adjourned at 5:30 p.m. 
 
 
     /s/ Albert S. Townshend        /s/ W. A. Mackey________  
 
Dr. Albert Townshend, Chairman   William A. Mackey, AICP, Director DPHZ 
 
Please note that 100% of this document was created by a human, using a transcript created by Microsoft 
Teams. The DPHZ team then reviewed the document prior to its distribution to the Board. 



 
September 6, 2024 
 
Dr. Al Townsend 
Kent County Board of Appeals 
400 High Street 
Chestertown, MD 21620 
 
RE:  24-28 Freedom Properties GOM, LLC – Special Exception – Redesignation as a Retreat  
  
Dear Dr. Townsend, 
 
At its meeting on September 5, 2024, the Kent County Planning Commission reviewed the application from Werten 
Bellamy, Freedom Properties GOM, LLC, requesting to change the special exception designation of the property from 
a Country Inn to a Retreat. The applicant proposes to expand the amenities offered onsite to include a demonstration 
kitchen and yoga studio and to utilize the property for small retreat/corporate meetings in addition to operating as a 
luxury boutique hotel. The property is located at 10568 Cliff Road in the Sixth Election District.     
 
Following discussion, the Planning Commission voted to send a favorable recommendation to the Board of Appeals for 
Great Oak Manor for their request to change a special exception from a Country Inn on their proposed 15.271-acre parcel 
to build an accessory structure for demonstration kitchen and yoga studio with the following conditions: That no more than 
15 guest rooms are permitted without prior approval to expand the retreat use, no parking for events is permitted on Cliff 
Road, no maintenance facilities or equipment is visible from outside the property, the limits on hours for outdoor events, 
and a road maintenance agreement for Cliff Road is signed by all property owners of record.  
 
Sincerely,  
Kent County Planning Commission 
 
 
 
Joe Hickman 
Chair   
 
cc:  Lance Young, Attorney, MacLeod Law Group, LLC 
 Kevin Shearon, P.E., DMS and Associates, LLC 



Department of Planning, Housing, and Zoning 
 

 
To: Kent County Board of Appeals 
From: Carla Gerber, Deputy Director 
Meeting: October 21, 2024 
Subject: Freedom Properties GOM, LLC  
 24-28: Special Exception – Change from a Country Inn to a Retreat 
 

Executive Summary 
 
Request by the Applicant 
Freedom Properties GOM, LLC (Great Oak Manor) is requesting a change of their special exception from a Country 
Inn to a Retreat. The applicant proposes to expand the amenities offered onsite to include a demonstration 
kitchen and yoga studio and to utilize the property for small retreat/corporate meetings in addition to operating 
as a luxury boutique hotel.  
 
Public Process 
Per Article VII, Section 6 of the Kent County Land Use Ordinance, the Planning Commission shall review and make 
a recommendation to the Board of Appeals on certain special exceptions. The Board of Appeals may authorize 
special exceptions for retreats. 
 
Summary of the Staff Report  
Great Oak Manor has been used as a Country Inn since 1984. The change to a retreat is to accommodate an 
expansion of amenities available to guests of the property for corporate retreats or small events, which may not 
always involve overnight lodging by attendees. No expansion in the number of guest rooms is proposed. The 
applicant is working with the Health Department to determine the adequacy of water and septic areas. The 
proposed building has been located and designed with respect to the historic nature of the site and the 
surrounding area. The proposed use is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan and complies with the spirit 
and intent of the Land Use Ordinance.  
 
Staff Recommendation 
Staff recommends approval and suggests that the Board of Appeals may wish to give consideration to the 
following conditions: 

1. No more than 15 guest rooms are permitted without prior approval to expand the retreat use. 
2. No parking for events is permitted on Cliff Road.  
3. No maintenance facilities or equipment is visible from outside the property. 
4. A road maintenance agreement for Cliff Road is signed by all property owners and recorded. 
5. Limits on hours for outdoor events. 

  



24-28 – Freedom Properties GOM, LLC – 2 
 

PRELIMINARY STAFF REPORT 
 
To: Kent County Board of Appeals 
Subject: Freedom Properties GOM, LLC   
 24-28: Special Exception – Change from a Country Inn to a Retreat 
Date: October 11, 2024 
 
Description of Proposal 
The owners of Great Oak Manor are requesting a special exception to change their existing Country Inn to a 
Retreat. They propose to combine the three parcels they own to create a 15.271-acre parcel and to build an 
accessory structure for a demonstration kitchen/yoga studio. There will be no change in the number of guest 
rooms, which is currently 13 rooms. The main property also has a storage shed and several small accessory 
structures. The house and shed that is currently on Parcel 113 will become part of the retreat property, but it will 
not be used for guest lodging. The property is located on Cliff Road in the 6th Election District and is zoned Critical 
Area Residential. The surrounding area is characterized by residential development, a marina, and agricultural 
land. 
 
History 
In July 1984, the Kent County Board of Appeals approved Country Inn Special Exception Case No. 394. In 
September 2017, the Board of Appeals approved an amendment to the special exception to replace the original 
conditions with conditions that were consistent with the current requirements for country inns in the Land Use 
Ordinance. 
 
Relevant Issues 
 
I. Special Exception—General Standards 
 
A. Comprehensive Plan: “Promote development of small, locally owned businesses.” (page 10) 
 
B. Applicable Law: Article V, Section 5.3.21 of the Kent County Land Use Ordinance identifies a Retreat as a 

Special Exception in the Critical Area Residential District. 
  

Article VII, Section II sets general standards for Special Exceptions and directs the Board to make the 
following findings where appropriate: 
1.  The nature of the proposed site, including its size and shape and the proposed size, shape, and 

arrangement of structures; 
2. Traffic Patterns; 
3.  Nature of surrounding area; 
4.  Proximity of dwellings, houses of worship, schools, public structures, and other places of public 

gathering; 
5.  The impact of the development or project on community facilities and services; 
6.  Preservation of cultural and historic landmarks, significant natural features and trees; 
7.  Probable effect of noise, vibration, smoke and particulate matter, toxic matter, odor, fire or explosion 

hazards, or glare upon surrounding properties; 
8.  The purpose and intent of this Ordinance as set forth in Article II;  
9.  Design, environmental, and other standards of this Ordinance as set forth in Article V; 
10.  The most appropriate use of land and structure; 
11.  Conservation of property values; 
12.  The proposed development’s impact on water quality; 
13.  Impact on fish, wildlife and plant habitat; 
14.  Consistency with the Comprehensive Plan, Land Use Ordinance, and where applicable the Village 



24-28 – Freedom Properties GOM, LLC – 3 
 

Master Plan; 
15.  Consistency with the Critical Area Program; and 
16.  Compatibility with existing and planned land use as described in the Comprehensive Plan, Land Use 

Ordinance, and where applicable the Village Master Plan. 
 
C. Staff and TAC Comments: The use, at the current size, is appropriate to the site and consistent with the 

Comprehensive Plan and Land Use Ordinance. 
 
II. Special Exception—Specific Standards 
 
A. Comprehensive Plan: “Promote and expand facilities, services and activities that support natural resource-

based economic development.” (page 19) 
 
B. Applicable Law: Article VII, Section 7.49 sets specific standards for a Retreat in AZD, RCD, RC, RR, CAR, CR, 

and V provided: 
a.  The project shall collectively consist of at least 15 acres. 
b.  In AZD, the retreat uses buildings that existed prior to August 1, 1989. Buildings are limited to a 50% 

expansion of the gross floor area of each individual building above that which existed as of August 1, 
1989. 

c.  The retreat has at least 10 but not more than 40 guest rooms. 
d. Permanent theme parks, amusement parks, and/or stadiums are prohibited. 
e.  Where applicable, the applicant has applied for growth allocation. Special exception approval will not 

be valid without the granting of growth allocation. 
f.  The Board shall make specific findings on the availability of public and governmental services. 
g.  Where they exist, historic structures shall be incorporated into the overall project. 
h. Significant view corridors, both from the site and onto the site shall be preserved in so much as 

possible. 
i.  The height of all structures shall not exceed 38 feet. 
j.  The design of the retreat and accessory uses shall reflect and complement the rural  character of the 

area. 
k.  One residential unit for use by an employee of the retreat may be provided. 
l.  Permitted accessory uses include kitchen and dining facilities for guests only, recreational facilities 

such as tennis courts and swimming pools; spas; other recreation amenities but not including trap, 
skeet, clay birds, paint ball or other similar firearm  activities, piers; and other accessory uses that 
are customarily associated with a retreat. The applicant shall describe all proposed accessory uses in 
the application for a special exception. The Board of Appeals may deny or limit the size and extent of 
accessory uses. 

m.  The number of slips on an accessory pier may not exceed 5. 
n.  The retreat shall be limited to 10 buildings. In AZD, the retreat is limited to existing buildings. 
o.  All structures shall comply with the minimum 100-foot buffer. Primary buildings shall be 100 feet from 

all property lines or comply with the minimum 100-foot buffer, whichever is greater. Accessory 
structures may be 5 feet from the rear or side property line. 

p.  At least 60% of the property shall be in open space. 
q.  Parking lots shall be landscaped as required for commercial developments in Article V, Section 11 of 

this Ordinance. 
r.  The Board of Appeals may place additional restrictions on the following: 
 i.  Additional yard requirements for all structures, including patios and places of public assembly 
 ii.  Lighting 
 iii. Landscaping and screening 
 iv.  Outdoor activities and outdoor music and their hours of operation 



24-28 – Freedom Properties GOM, LLC – 4 
 

 v.  Access 
s.  The application for a retreat shall include a sketch plan and renderings of all primary and each type of 

accessory building and structure. 
  

C. Staff and TAC Comments:  
1. Upon recordation of the adjustment of lot lines, the parcel will exceed 15 acres.  
2. There are currently 13 guest rooms with no plans for additional rooms. 
3. In previous decisions, the Board of Appeals has determined that public and governmental services are 

available and adequate. No substantial changes to the use of the property are proposed. 
4. The applicant has designed the proposed building in keeping with the historic nature of the setting 

and with respect to the character of the neighborhood. 
5. View corridors were given consideration in the placement of the proposed building, and the height 

does not exceed 38 feet. 
6. With the exception of an existing, small wooden deck overlooking the Bay, all structures are more 

than 100 feet from any property line.  
7. New amenities include a demonstration kitchen and yoga studio in the proposed building. Any 

additional amenities would require approval of an amendment to the special exception. 
8. More than 60% of the site is open space. 
9. Parking for lodging guests is located near the Manor House and is screened. The overflow lawn parking 

area is to be left as a grass field and will need to be screened from adjacent properties. 
10. A site plan and building elevations for the proposed building have been provided. 

 
Staff Recommendation: Staff recommends approval and suggests that the Board of Appeals may wish to give 
consideration to the following conditions: 

1. No more than 15 guest rooms are permitted without prior approval to expand the retreat use. 
2. No parking for events is permitted on Cliff Road.  
3. No maintenance facilities or equipment is visible from outside the property. 
4. A road maintenance agreement for Cliff Road is signed by all property owners and recorded. 
5. Limits on hours for outdoor events. 

 
 
  
 

















COPYRIGHT TORCHIO ARCHITECTS, INC. 2023
01:  GREAT OAK MANOR:  SCHEMATIC DESIGN : 04.30.2024

205 E. Water Street, Suite A, Centreville, Maryland 21617 - 410.758.1000

NORTH WEST PERSPECTIVE

SOUTH EAST PERSPECTIVE



COPYRIGHT TORCHIO ARCHITECTS, INC. 2023
02:  GREAT OAK MANOR:  SCHEMATIC DESIGN : 04.30.2024

205 E. Water Street, Suite A, Centreville, Maryland 21617 - 410.758.1000

SOUTH ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/4"=1'-0"

WEST ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/4"=1'-0"

WEST ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/4"=1'-0"

ROOF PLAN
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"



COPYRIGHT TORCHIO ARCHITECTS, INC. 2023
03:  GREAT OAK MANOR:  SCHEMATIC DESIGN : 04.30.2024

205 E. Water Street, Suite A, Centreville, Maryland 21617 - 410.758.1000

NORTH ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/4"=1'-0"

EAST ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/4"=1'-0"













October 11, 2024 

Kent County Board of Zoning Appeals 

c/o Ms. Carla Gerber 

Deputy Director of Planning and Zoning 

400 High St 

Chestertown, MD  21620 

 

 

 

Board of Appeals 

Kent County Planning Commission 

 

RE: Great Oak Manor 

        Special Exemption “Retreat” Application 

        Tax Map 26, Parcel 76 

 

Dear Board Members, 

 

This correspondence is regarding the request to change the designation of Great Oak Manor from  

“Country Inn” to “Retreat”.  We oppose the application. 

 

We oppose any change that would allow Great Oak Manor to expand beyond it’s existing 15 room  

capacity now or in the future. 

 

We are concerned with overdevelopment of the property. 

We are against locating a parking lot along our quiet, serene and fragile lane.  

We are concerned about the increased traffic on our privately maintained lane that this would create. 

We are concerned about increased noise, traffic and lighting related to this proposed parking lot let alone any 

future expansion the change would allow for in the future. 

 

During the meeting held at Great Oak Manor to introduce this request Mr. Bellamy explained to all the neighbors in 

attendance the only reason he was requesting this new designation was because he was told by his Engineering 

firm this was the only way he could get approval for a new kitchen and yoga studio improvement. I asked if there 

was any other way to accomplish his improvements i.e. (variance, text amendments, etc.) This question was 

asked again during the Advisory Board meeting to which Mr. Bellamy replied, “Any restrictions on the use of his 

property would simply be unfair”.  The main question I have, is this current improvement plan truly the reason Mr. 

Bellamy is requesting this new designation or simply a steppingstone to future development? 

 

 I’m sure you are aware that the failure rate of small businesses is very high and although Mr. Bellamy states he 

has no intention of the future development of his property he may not be able to control that in the future. A 

businessman is in business to turn a profit.  If his current plan was proving to be unprofitable, he would have no 

choice but to adjust.   We are adamantly  

opposed to any change to the status that would allow any opportunity for future development of this property.  

 

 

As property owners and now full-time residents of Cliff Road, we ask that you refuse this request. 

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

George and Fran Besack 

10780 Cliff Rd. 

 



Kent County Board of Zoning and Appeals

c/o Carla Gerber

Deputy Director of Planning and Zoning

400 High St.

Chestertown, MD 21620


RE: Great Oak Manor 

       Special Exemption “Retreat” Application

       Tax Map 26, Parcel 76


Dear Board Members,


This letter is in regard to the request to change the designation of Great Oak Manor from 
“Country Inn” to “Retreat”. We oppose the application unless specific conditions are imposed 
on the future use of Great Oak Manor which are binding on the present and future owners.


Having a home on Cliff Road for 39 years, we treasure the solitude, privacy and peaceful nature 
of our small community.  Great Oak Manor, in it’s present state, has not impacted our valued 
rural setting.  However, the requested change from “Country Inn” to “Retreat” could have 
implications for that to change dramatically.  


We oppose any change that would allow Great Oak Manor to expand beyond it’s current 15 
room capacity unless certain conditions regarding future expansion are addressed for the 
current owner and all future owners.


We do not oppose the construction of the demonstration kitchen/yoga studio.


Our concerns with the “Retreat” designation are:


*Overdevelopment of the property as it exists or future expansion onto adjoining properties by 
current or future owners which would be inappropriate for this neighborhood.


*Increased traffic and it’s impact on our privately maintained, single lane access road


*Increased lighting, signage and noise

 

*Overflow parking away from the Inn and onto adjoining land 


*Additional traffic and trespassing of guests, visitors and vendors onto our fragile, unpaved, 
privately maintained section of Cliff Rd.


We ask that you consider our concerns as neighbors and citizens of Kent County who value 
the rural nature of our communities.  It is a special place to live because you, our zoning and 
planning committees, have been very discerning with special exceptions and variances.  We 
ask that you continue that policy when it comes to the re-designation of this property.  


Respectfully submitted,

Dennis and Gaye Cox

10722 Cliff Rd




1

Carla Gerber

From: dnkohler <dnkohler1@yahoo.com>

Sent: Friday, October 11, 2024 10:28 AM

To: Carla Gerber

Subject: Great Oak Manor Special Exemption as a Retreat

[You don't o
en get email from dnkohler1@yahoo.com. Learn why this is important at 

h�ps://aka.ms/LearnAboutSenderIden%fica%on ] 

 

ATTENTION! 

This email originated from an external source. DO NOT CLICK any links or a�achments unless you recognize the sender 

and know the content is safe. 

- KCIT Helpdesk 

________________________________ 

 

As a homeowner located on Great Oak Landing Road I am very concerned about the changes being proposed by the 

owners of the Great Oak Manor. 

 

My concern revolves around the likely increase of traffic and noise that may be generated and that meaningful 

accommoda%ons be assured to mi%gate these issues. 

 

This should include funds allocated to maintain our Great Oak Landing and Cliff Roads. 

 

Thank you. 

 

Daniel Kohler 

22386 Great Oak Landing Rd 

Chestertown, Md 21620 

 

dnkohler1@yahoo.com 

301-802-4198 

 

 



Kent County Board of Zoning and Appeals 

Re: Great Oak Manor, Special Exemption “Retreat” Application, Tax Map 26, Parcel 76 

October 11, 2024 

Honorable Board of Appeals Members: 

The economic development office of Kent County has a lot of pressure to allow and 
encourage anyone wishing to invest in developing a business in the county, especially 
something as “non-invasive” as tourism. 

This is not the case with prospective development of Great Oak Manor by changing their 
zoning from “Country Inn” to “Retreat”.  This change will be invasive to an established 
residential community with noise and visual changes.   Of greatest concern is the potential 
expense it will incur to neighboring private property owners.  This proposed rezoning for 
business growth does not fit in with the original development of Great Oak manor as a 
stately home in a quiet community.  We have already seen and felt the results of 
exceptions made to convert the property to a “Country Inn”. 

The residents of Cliff Road have, for years, been threatened repeatedly with the impact of  
requests by owners of Great Oak Manor,  who have taken it from a private residence to 
what it is today.  We have had meetings with the Manor owners, in which they tell us they 
“only” need one thing, which seems to cover ulterior motives for developing the property 
in a way that is not supported by our community.  

Mr. Bellamy invited us to a meeting in his home, to inform us that all he wants is one 
building for a  yoga studio and a demonstration kitchen, to be able to make his investment 
become “profitable”.   He stated that it was our own county Planning Commission that will 
not allow this one change unless the zoning for his property is changed to ”Retreat”, which 
allows up to 40 rooms and multiple additional structures to be built.  As I inquired at the 
recent 05 September hearing, why is there no middle road to allow this one building, 
rather than basically granting this and any future owners to do exactly what the neighbors 
have spent countless hours and attorney fees asking for respect for our concerns as long-
term citizens, residents, and tax-payers in protecting our long-established residential 
community? 

Yet, when the Planning commission added “conditions” to appease our concerns, Mr. 
Bellamy stated that he wants no conditions attached to the zoning of his property.  This 
was an alarm sounding loud and clear to the residents that the current applicant is looking 
for more than one additional building.  If not this owner, the next one. 

The property being considered for “retreat” zoning is neither protected from enough 
surrounding acreage to buffer its visual and audible effects on the surrounding neighbors, 
OR is it accessed directly by a public road that would allow safe use for Manor Guests or 
the permanent residents of Cliff Road.  Other businesses in the county with Retreat zoning 
have safe, direct public road access and sufficient buffering to protect the neighbors from 
noise and visual pollution. 



Please review the history of our interactions with the owners of Great Oak Manor.  Please 
recognize that we have been in front of the Planning Commission many times with the 
same concerns.  These are not “complaints” as Ms. Reeder identified them at a prior 
hearing.  They are valid concerns we have been asked to provide every time a new owner 
decides they want and need to increase the  business value of the property.  If they are 
not satisfied with the “country Inn” they purchased, why should the neighboring 
community pay indefinitely for the owners’ regrettably poor business decision?  

ROAD SAFETY and Maintenance Support: 

As I see it, no one but the surrounding neighbors understand the daily safety concerns 
regarding the narrow and privately maintained road that the requested re-zoning will 
negatively impact well into the future with increased business traffic, supply vehicles, 
construction vehicles, etc. 

Does the economic development office deem expansion of the business at Great Oak 
Manor worthwhile for the county despite the historical concerns of the neighboring 
property owners?   If so,  Kent County should release the surrounding neighbors from our 
concerns for safety, the risk of potential devaluation of our serene residential properties, 
and personal financial support for expansion of a private business.                                   
The only fair and equitable solution for this concern would be for Kent County to 
declare our roads to be county roads and develop them to county standards. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Bronwyn Fry 

10650 Cliff Road 

Chestertown, MD  21620 

bfrymail@gmail.com 

410-708-4070

mailto:bfrymail@gmail.com




1

Robert Tracey

From: bev kaehler <chessiebay56@gmail.com>
Sent: Saturday, October 12, 2024 9:39 AM
To: Robert Tracey
Subject: Fwd:

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Flagged

ATTENTION!  
This email originated from an external source. DO NOT CLICK any links or attachments unless you recognize 

the sender and know the content is safe. 
- KCIT Helpdesk

 

---------- Forwarded message --------- 
From: bev kaehler <chessiebay56@gmail.com> 
Date: Fri, Oct 11, 2024, 6:38 PM 
Subject:  
To: <cgerber@kentgov.org> 
 

Re: Great oak Manor application for retreat.                We are located on Gerret Copeland's property at 
22679 Handy pt Rd.  Although we are not near the manor house, their traffic is constantly driving around 
the farm. There is a problem with GPS that has our address as the manor house. I suggest that if they get 
approved, that they have big signs showing where they are. Possibly trying to figure out how to have GPS 
corrected. Thank you for your time. James and Beverly Kaehler. 

 You don't often get email from chessiebay56@gmail.com. Learn why this is important   



 
 
Subject: Great Oak Manor property application for Retreat status 
Date: October 11, 2024 
 
Attention: Kent County Board of Zoning Appeals 
Cc: Carla Gerber 
 
Esteemed Members of the Board:  
 
Thank you for the opportunity for public comment upon this application to change the status of 
the Great Oak Manor property from Country Inn to Retreat. As included in the records for this 
application, I shared my concerns and comments with the members of the Planning and Zoning 
Commission on September 3, 2024. 
 
For background to my comments below, as a third-generation resident on Cliff Road, I have a 
vested personal interest in this application and care deeply about Kent County. However, I also 
offer background on my educational and professional background to lend further credibility to 
my reaction to the application to locate a Retreat on Cliff Road. I have an undergraduate degree 
in civil engineering, and a graduate degree in public administration. I have worked in economic 
development to help communities thrive and guided zoning and transportation policies to serve 
area residents and businesses. My former employers include New York’s Metropolitan 
Transportation Authority, New York City Economic Development Corporation, and, most 
recently, I served as Deputy Director for Policy for the Montgomery County Department of 
Transportation in Montgomery County, Maryland. 
 
I offer my comments below:  
 
ZONING POLICY 
 
Many of the arguments made in favor of the application for Retreat statys include references to 
the current owner’s character and the way he has operated his business thus far. Those 
considerations are more relevant to temporary rights, such as a business license, that apply to 
one business and its owner. 

 
However, the issue before you is approval that is tied to land—not an individual. And approvals 
made tied to this land transfers with the land and is permanent, regardless of who owns the 
property. A zoning decision like this one that applies significantly expanded development rights 
should not be granted based on the consideration of today’s owner’s character. Thus, this 
decision should be based upon the possible development and actions that could be taken by 
any possible future owner. Policymakers should consider both best case and worst case 
scenarios that are made possible by today’s zoning decisions. 

 



This decision should be based on the land use and on a long-term basis, and potential impacts 
should consider today’s owners and also future owners of any of the properties along Cliff 
Road. Protection considerations for neighbors should be made to ensure that surrounding 
property owners can use their own property to its best and highest use without unrestricted 
impacts of owners of the Manor property. 
 
NOISE 
 
It is critical to the character of the existing community that quiet hours be required for a 
business located within a residential community. Rather than arbitrarily define and specify 
quiet hours for this property, I recommend tying quiet hours conditions to existing quiet hours 
that have been approved elsewhere in the County and have been deemed reasonable for other 
local businesses.  
 
For example, “At all times, the owner shall comply with the same quiet hours that are approved 
by and in place for businesses located within the Town of Chestertown.” 
 
TRAFFIC 
 
Public officials, committee members, and elected officials in Kent County have heard about this 
shared private road in relation to the application before you today and in past zoning 
applications. 
 
The best way that I can describe this road is as a very long, shared driveway. As a public official, 
I was involved in similarly shared roadways, and what was always relevant was the impact that 
neighbors have on each other on shared driveways. 
 
What is unusual in this situation is that the potential power dynamic and rights of neighbors 
sharing this roadway resource is very unbalanced in the case of Cliff Road. There are no public 
protections for surrounding community members. There are no public funds directed toward 
the road, and it is up to a community to arrange for maintenance, the management of 
maintenance, and the funds for upkeep. 
 
I have heard Kent County’s public officials and committee members state that the neighbors 
should be able to come to an agreement with the Manor House. That we just need to work 
together. That officials have faith that we can find a solution amongst ourselves. That goal has 
been a difficult endeavor for my entire lifetime. Yes, the residents of the community purchased 
their homes aware of this access and associated challenges. However, the application before 
you today has the potential to significantly alter the dynamics that have already been difficult. 
A driveway-like road shared by single-family homeowners and a business with up to 50 guest 
rooms hosting transient guests is significantly different than the situation we navigate today. 
 
Some residents in this community, including my own family, purchased Cliff Road properties 
and constructed our homes when the Manor House was just that—a beautiful and large house 



with one family consisting of two adults living in the Manor House. That single family house, 
evolved into a Bed & Breakfast, a Country Inn, and now potentially a Retreat. 
 
Those evolutions happened with the permission of Kent County, but while Kent County has 
expanded development and business rights to the Manor House property, there has been no 
evolution in the ownership or maintenance of the shared driveway. The Manor House has 
become an unequal user with unequal impacts on the roadway, and there are legal 
requirements or obligations imposed upon them other than suggestions from the County that 
the owner work with neighbors to come to an agreement. Developing an agreement between 
neighbors is difficult in many circumstances, but becomes even more challenging when one 
party to the agreement is no longer in the same category or property use as every other 
property owner sharing this resource. 
 
It is inappropriate for the County to continue to expand development rights on properties 
fronting this road without the County or other public entity taking on ownership, costs, and 
maintenance of the road. It is unreasonable to place the burden of cost, management, and the 
difficulty of forming agreement between individual homeowners and a large business, with no 
oversight, assistance, or requirements for the business owner to participate at all in such an 
agreement.  
 
Again, please consider ALL and ANY future property owners of the Manor House—not today’s 
owner. In theory, there could be a new owner six months from now, and even if an 
arrangement with neighbors had been reached, the residents on Cliff Road could be faced with 
this challenging dynamic each time the property changes hands. 
 
In effect, approval of Retreat status is significantly expanding business and development rights 
in a way that directly and immediately affects surrounding neighbors and makes existing 
residents more vulnerable to whomever becomes the owner of the Manor House property. The 
balance of power is extremely unbalanced, and residents cannot effectively negotiate and 
reach agreement over the road when the Owner of the Manor House has no legal obligation to 
participate in management of, payment for, or assistance with the road. 
 
SAFETY 
 
I do not have concerns with the number of people occupying the Manor House property itself. 
However, I have significant concerns over access to and from the property and the Manor 
House’s potential to impact my safety and the safety of my children. 
 
My seven- and ten-year-old children have grown up with the enforced rule that they can play 
and ride their bikes anywhere along Cliff Road, but that they can never go past the Manor 
House property or beyond it without an adult. That rule is because, with a business operation 
and transient guests and the service people required to support the business, you never know 
who will be driving in and out of the Manor House. There could be no cars, or there could be 
many drivers unfamiliar with the area, large delivery trucks, etc. 



 
The neighborhood is largely composed of retirement age residents, but we have been lucky to 
develop a close friendship with the Snyder family and their three children. While we can see the 
Snyder’s house from our house by looking across a field, we cannot let our children go to see 
their friends without us because of our safety concerns on Cliff Road. The Manor House is 
located between our house and the Snyder’s, so while it would be easy for our children to bike 
back and forth, they cannot because of the unpredictable nature of traffic on Cliff Road. An 
increase in business activity on Cliff Road with no further protections for surrounding residents 
has the potential to further threaten what should be freedom and independence you would 
imagine is afforded to children in a quiet, rural community. 
 
 
In conclusion, I implore you to consider this application as a zoning and land use decision that 
applies to any future owner of the Manor House. This is not a business license that is temporary 
and associated with one individual. The rights granted with it cannot be retracted. 
Development as-of-right is challenging to control or deny, and the application before you seeks 
a significant expansion of future development rights.  
 
I believe the extension of rights is unnecessary for the development currently planned. And I 
would ask the County to consider approving the yoga and commercial kitchen facilities within 
the current Country Inn zoning status. If Retreat status is approved, it is critical that conditions 
for approval adequately protect surrounding property owners.  
 
Please protect the people who live on Cliff Road. We have no protections from the vehicles who 
come and go from this business. This “shared driveway” that my children want to bike along to 
go play with friends has the potential to be quiet and safe, but with no public oversight of the 
space, expanding rights to the Manor property to have 50 rooms and events associated with 
them creates the potential for large buses, drunk drivers, increased delivery trucks, and more. 
My concerns are not about how the Manor uses its property (as long as quiet hours are in 
place). Rather, I worry about the potential for their property uses to impact our safety and 
access to our own properties because of the nature of Cliff Road.  
 
Please consider that whatever decision you reach today has the potential for significant, 
permanent impacts to our Cliff Road community. Retreat status has potential to largely expand 
a business operation along Cliff Road, and this expansion of development and operational rights 
with no expansion of protections for area residents would threaten the public interest. Please 
afford Cliff Road residents with the protections we need to enjoy our own homes and feel safe 
in our neighborhood. 
 
Sincerely,  

 
  Hannah Fry Henn 
 











  
September 6, 2024 
 
Dr. Al Townsend 
Kent County Board of Appeals 
400 High Street  
Chestertown, MD 21620 
 
RE:  24-44 SNK Holdings, LLC – Amendment to Special Exception – Adding towing services 
 
Dear Dr. Townsend, 
 
At its meeting on September 5, 2024, the Kent County Planning Commission reviewed the application from SNK 
Holdings, requesting an amendment to change the hours of operation for an existing special exception to add 24-
hour, seven days per week, emergency towing services. This service will operate independently from the current auto 
repair shop, utilizing one tow truck to support State and local police agencies in Kent County and northern Queen 
Anne’s County. The towing service will rotate among many other vendors. It’s estimated that only three to five vehicles 
would be towed per month. The subject property is located at 516 Morgnec Road in the Fourth Election District. 
 
Following discussion, the Planning Commission voted to send a favorable recommendation to the Board of Appeals 
for SNK Holdings, LLC to amend their special exception to allow emergency towing which will operate 24 hours per 
day and seven days per week. 
 
Sincerely,  
Kent County Planning Commission 
 
 
 
Joe Hickman 
Chair   
 
cc:  Shane Bender, SNK Holdings, LLC 
 
 



Department of Planning, Housing, and Zoning 
 

 
To: Kent County Planning Commission 
From: Rob Tracey, AICP, Associate Planner 
Meeting: October 3, 2024 
Subject: SNK Holdings, LLC  
 24-44: Amendment to Special Exception – Adding towing services 
 

Executive Summary 
 
Request by the Applicant 
The applicant is requesting an amendment to change the hours of operation for an existing special exception to 
add a 24-hour, seven day a week, emergency towing services.  
 
Public Process 
Per Article VII, Section 6 of the Kent County Land Use Ordinance, the Planning Commission shall review and make 
a recommendation to the Board of Appeals on certain special exceptions. The Board of Appeals may authorize 
special exceptions for automobile repairs. 
 
Summary of the Staff Report  
The applicant seeks an amendment to the existing special exception for an auto repair business to include 
specialized emergency towing services. This service will operate independently from the current auto repair shop, 
utilizing one tow truck to support state and local police agencies in Kent and northern Queen Anne’s Counties. 
The towing service will be available 24/7 on a rotational basis, with an estimated three to five vehicles towed per 
month. 
 
Currently, the property houses two auto repair establishments: an auto repair shop leased to the applicant's 
former employee and the proposed towing service, which will be operated solely by the owner. The auto repair 
shop, authorized in 2016, operates from 8 AM to 5 PM, Monday through Friday, offering various maintenance and 
repair services with three full-time employees. These hours will remain unchanged. 
 
The vehicles towed will be securely stored in a rear parking lot, which is screened for privacy, and a gate will be 
installed for additional security. The proposed amendment aligns with the Comprehensive Plan and adheres to 
the spirit and intent of the Land Use Ordinance, facilitating enhanced emergency response capabilities in the area. 
 
Staff Recommendation 
Staff recommends forwarding a favorable recommendation to the Board of Appeals. 
  



24-44 – SNK Holdings, LLC – 2 
 

PRELIMINARY STAFF REPORT 
 
To: Kent County Planning Commission 
Subject: SNK Holdings, LLC   
 24-44: Amendment to Special Exception – Adding towing services 
Date: September 26, 2024 
 

Description of Proposal 
The applicant is seeking an amendment to the auto repair special exception to change the hours of 
operation to provide more specialized emergency towing services. This emergency towing service will 
operate separately from the existing auto repair business and will utilize one tow truck. According to 
the applicant’s narrative, the service will accommodate state and local police agencies in Kent and 
northern Queen Anne’s Counties. It will be part of a rotational towing list that includes approximately 
15 other towing companies in Kent and Queen Anne’s County. 

The specialized towing service would be available 24 hours a day, seven days a week when in rotation. 
The applicant estimates that there may be three to five cars towed per month. The vehicles towed to 
the premises will be stored in the existing parking lot located in the rear yard of the property, which is 
screened by existing buildings, fencing, and vegetation. The applicant will also install a gate to provide 
additional security for the vehicles towed to the facility. 

Currently, the property is home to two auto repair establishments: an existing auto repair shop leased 
to the applicant’s former employee and a specialized emergency towing service that will be operated 
solely by the owner. The property received a special exception for an automobile repair business in 
2016 (case number 16-50), which authorized the auto repair business to operate between the hours of 
8 AM and 5 PM, Monday through Friday. The original auto repair establishment includes the following 
services: vehicle maintenance, brakes, exhaust, diagnostics, tire repair/replacement, vehicle safety 
inspections, and other minor and major repairs. The auto repair establishment has three full-time 
employees. The hours of operation for the original auto repair shop will not change; it will continue to 
operate between 8 AM and 5 PM, Monday to Friday. The property is located at 516 Morgnec Road in 
the fourth Election District and is zoned Intense Village. 

The amendment to the special exception is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan and complies 
with the spirit and intent of the Land Use Ordinance. 
 
Relevant Issues 
 
I. Special Exception—General Standards 

Special Excep�on uses are allowed and presumed to be compa�ble with other permited uses in a zoning 
district; however, a review process is required to evaluate whether the par�cular use proposed at a 
par�cular loca�on would have any adverse effects above and beyond those inherently associated with 
such a use irrespec�ve of its loca�on within the zoning district; and to ensure that development complies 
with the Comprehensive Plan, the Land Use Ordinance, and various agency requirements, thereby 
promo�ng the health, safety, and general welfare of Kent County’s residents.  
 
The Board of Appeals must consider the impacts of the specifically proposed special excep�on use as 
indicated on the submited site plan upon neighboring uses and the surrounding area of that par�cular 
loca�on. The Board may place condi�ons and restric�ons as authorized by the Land Use Ordinance to 



24-44 – SNK Holdings, LLC – 3 
 

limit the special excep�on use to address the iden�fied impacts on neighbors and the area. The Board 
may also place condi�ons and restric�ons to ensure that the special excep�on use that is granted by the 
Board does not exceed the reasonable expecta�ons of that specific and par�cular use as proposed on the 
concept site plan.  

 
A. Comprehensive Plan: “Promote development of small, locally owned businesses.” (page 10) 
 
B. Applicable Law: Article V, Section 8.3.3 of the Kent County Land Use Ordinance identifies an automobile 

repair as a Special Exception in the Intense Village District. 
  

Article VII, Section II sets general standards for Special Exceptions and directs the Board to make the 
following findings where appropriate: 
1.  The nature of the proposed site, including its size and shape and the proposed size, shape, and 

arrangement of structures; 
2. Traffic Patterns; 
3.  Nature of surrounding area; 
4.  Proximity of dwellings, houses of worship, schools, public structures, and other places of public 

gathering; 
5.  The impact of the development or project on community facilities and services; 
6.  Preservation of cultural and historic landmarks, significant natural features and trees; 
7.  Probable effect of noise, vibration, smoke and particulate matter, toxic matter, odor, fire or explosion 

hazards, or glare upon surrounding properties; 
8.  The purpose and intent of this Ordinance as set forth in Article II;  
9.  Design, environmental, and other standards of this Ordinance as set forth in Article V; 
10.  The most appropriate use of land and structure; 
11.  Conservation of property values; 
12.  The proposed development’s impact on water quality; 
13.  Impact on fish, wildlife and plant habitat; 
14.  Consistency with the Comprehensive Plan, Land Use Ordinance, and where applicable the Village 

Master Plan; 
15.  Consistency with the Critical Area Program; and 
16.  Compatibility with existing and planned land use as described in the Comprehensive Plan, Land Use 

Ordinance, and where applicable the Village Master Plan. 
 
C. Staff and TAC Comments:  

• The surrounding area is a mix of both residential and commercial development with properties zoned 
as Intense Village, Commercial, and Community Residential.  

• The site has access to a public road, which appears to be adequate for the traffic generated.  
• There are no known traffic impacts which would be inappropriate for access roads and the 

surrounding area.  
• There are no road improvements being proposed at this time.   
• There are no known unacceptable impacts by way of noise, odor, noxious material or other nuisances.   
• There are no known historical landmarks or significant natural features.   
• The Chestertown Christian Academy is approximately one-quarter of a mile from the site and the 

Chestertown Baptist Church is approximately one-third of a mile from the site.  
• There are no known impacts on fish, wildlife, and plant habitat from the proposed development.   

 
Staff Recommendation: Staff recommends forwarding a favorable recommendation to the Board of Appeals. 
 
 



BOARD.  OF  AJ'PEALS  APPLICATION

Kent  County  Department  ofPlawirxg,  Housing and Zonirzg
Kent  County  Government  Center

400  High  Street  a Chesteitown,  MD  21620
410-778-7423  (phone)  a 410-810-2932  (fax)

For  Office  Use Only
CaseNumber/DateFiled:  2'l'lf

Planning  Comn'iission:
Date  of  Heai'ing:
Parties  Notified:
Notice  in Paper:
Property  Posted:

IN  THE,  MATTER  OF  Tm  APPLICATION  OF:

Please  provide  the  email  of  the  one  person  who  will  be  responsive  for  responding  to  coinments.  Only  this
person  wffl  be contacted  by  staff  and  wffl  be  the  person  responsible  for  forwarding  the  comments  or  requests  for

additional information to any other interested parties. EMAIL: 'V')a(!075 /)7 (' A) @ 74Aoo, e ml
TO  THE  I(ENT  COUNTY  BOAJID  OF  APPEALS:  In  accordance  with  Article Section

of  the Kent  Corinty  Zoning  Ordinance,  as amended,  request  is hereby  made  for:

Appealing  Decision  of  Kent  County  Zoning  Administrator  Variance
2Special  Exception Nonconforming  Use

DESCRIPTION  OF  PROPERTY  INVOLVED:

Located On: (Name ofRoad, etc. ) fl01'4!M'  (
In the MElection  District of  Kent County.

,.Sizaep:oflotojpWcelofpLaracnedi:: '7/!X Lot#:

List  buildings  already  on  property:

A'  A'-t- ,'  F/

DeedRef:  S,LX,  1)./'1112

If  subdiyision.  indicate  lot  and  block  number:

If there is a homeowner's association, give name and address of association: /14
PRESENT  ZONING  OF  PROPERTY:

If  appealing  decision  of  Zoning  Administrator,  list  date  of  their  decision:

presentowner(s)ofproperty:,W 4J;x>lJlrri)s Uc
Revised  -  09/  I 7/  21 DEPmENTOF



If  Applicant  is not  owner,  please  indicate  your  interest  in  this  property:

naspropertyinvoiveaeverbeensub3ecttoapreviousappiicatioa'7'/5
Ifso,pleasegiveApplicationNumberandDate: /(;;i - 0000()5oA I>/h
PLEASE  FILL  m  BELOW,  OR  ATT  ACH  mRETO,  A  SI(ETCH  OF  THIS  PROPERTY.

List  all  property  measurements  and  dimensions  of  any  buildings  already  on the  property.

Put  distances  between  present  buildings  or  proposed  buildings  and  property  lines.

NowAMEner<sS,OonF t,mheNJOOffmh epiop;:Y O\;; , ) ,,)i. ,,3,
Owner(s)ontheSouth:  i  IIJ  C (

Daylin E Ngte.qeOwner(s)  to the  East: t  I 3ims-4-own lL"-

Owner(s)  to the  West: hv'  r(omr"  Frvwy,A) lt'ht+J pa,1x=vap-

Homeowners  Association,  name  and  address,  if  applicable:

BY SIGNING  THIS  APPLICATION,  I GRANT  MEMBERS  AND  ALTERNATE  OF THE BOARD  OF
ZONING  APPEALS  THE RIGHT  TO ENTER  ONTO  THE PROPERTY  FOR THE PURPOSE  OF
VIEWING  THE  SITE  OF T:[-IE APPLICATION  OR APPEAL.

Signature  of  Owner/Applicant/Agent  or  Attorney  Date

Please  file  this  form  at 400 High  Street,  Chestertown,  MD  21620  accompanied  by   filing  fee made  payable
to  the  County  Commissioners  of  Kent  County.  The  filing  fee for  appeals  of  a Zoning  Administrator's  decision  is
$250.00.  If  you  have  any  questions,  please  contact  the  Clerk  at 410-778-7467.

NOTICE:  Neither  the  Board  of  Appeals  nor  the  Planning  Department  is required  to  make  out  this  Application.
If  the  Planning  Department  assists  you,  it  cannot  be held  responsible  for  its  contents.

Applicants  arriving  more  than  10  minutes  after  the  scheduled  hearing  will  not  be heard  and  will  be te-scheduled
at  the  applicant's  expense.

Revised  -  09/  17/  21



Victory Auto Works  
(Formerly Shane’s Auto Repair) 

 Business Narrative 

 

Victory Auto Works (Formerly Shane’s Auto Repair) proposes to add an emergency towing service to the 
existing auto shop special exception case number 16-50 dated August 21, 2016. The service will 
accommodate state and local police agencies in Kent and Northern Queen Anne’s counties. This would 
be a 24 hour and 7 days a week service. This is a rotational towing list that is occupied by approximately 
15 other tow companies in Kent and Queen Anne’s counties. The company will operate one tow truck 
with Shane Bender(Owner) being the sole operator. Based on the information provided by current 
participants on the rotational list expected tows would be approximately 3 to 5 a month. The vehicles 
towed in would be current parking area used by the auto repair shop. The parking area is shielded by 
buildings, trees, and fencing. An existing gate that is shown on the site plan will be used when needed. 
In conclusion it is my belief that the addition of the towing service will not have any negative effect on 
the standards set forth on article VII, Section 2 of the Land Use Ordinance as outlined in the special 
exception criteria.  



h 
xi'i>

'
 

s 
sxx<


	3_22113 Great Oak Manor Concept_05_24_24.pdf
	22113 GOM Concept Plan_05_24_24.pdf
	22113-C1 Model (1)
	22113-C2 Model (1)


	3_Board of Appeals_Correspondence.pdf
	Great Oak Manor - Public Comment by Trigiami & Ghee 2024-06-26
	Great Oak Manor - Public Comment by Neuberger 2024-06-26
	Great Oak Manor - Public Comment by Cox 2024-06-28
	Great Oak Manor - Public Comment by Mountain 2024-06-29
	Great Oak Manor - Public Comment by Besack 2024-07-01
	Great Oak Manor - Public Comment by Fry and Barnard 2024-07-01
	Great Oak Manor - Public Comment by B Fry 2024-07-02

	24-44_SNK Holdings_Special Ex_BOA.pdf
	24-44_SNK Holdings_Special Ex_BOA
	Victory Auto Works Narrative




